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FILED

INOPENCOURT

-
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE

EASTERNDISTRICTOF VIRGINIA
CLERK , U.S. DISTRICT COURT

ALEXANDRIA , VIRGINIA

Alexandria Division

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA

V. No. 1 :20 -cr -239

ALEXANDAAMONKOTEY

Defendant.

PLEAAGREEMENT

Raj Parekh, Acting United States Attorney for the Eastern District ofVirginia;

undersigned counsel for the United States; the defendant, Alexanda Amon Kotey; and the

defendant's counsel have entered into an agreement pursuant to Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of

Criminal Procedure. The terms of this Agreement are as follows:

1 . Offenses and MaximumPenalties

The defendant agrees to plead guilty to all of the offenses charged in the pending eight

count indictment, which charges the defendant with the following offenses:

CountOne: Conspiracy to Commit Hostage Taking Resulting in Death in

violation of 18 U.S.C. 1203 .

Count Two: Hostage Taking Resulting in the Death ofJames Wright Foley in

violation of 18 U.S.C. $$ 1203 and 2 .

Count Three: Hostage Taking Resulting in the Death of Kayla Jean Mueller in

violation of 18 U.S.C. 1203 and 2 .

CountFour: Hostage Taking Resulting in the Death of Steven Joel Sotloff in

violationof 18 U.S.C.$$1203 and 2 .
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CountFive: Hostage Taking Resulting in the Death ofPeter Edward Kassig in

violationof 18 U.S.C. 1203 and 2.

CountSix: Conspiracy to MurderUnited States Citizens Outsideofthe United

States inviolation of 18 U.S.C. (b)(2) .

CountSeven: Conspiracyto ProvideMaterialSupport to TerroristsResultingin

Death in violation of 18 U.S.C. 2339A .

Count Eight: Conspiracy to Provide Material Support to a Designated Foreign

Terrorist Organization Resulting in Death in violationof 18 U.S.C. 2339B.

The maximum term of imprisonment for each count is life. Counts one through five

require a mandatory -minimum term of life imprisonment. The maximum penalties for each

offense also include a fine of $250,000, a special assessment pursuant to 18 U.S.C 3013, and a

maximum supervised release term oflifepursuant to 18 U.S.C. 3583 defendant

understandsthat any supervisedreleaseterm is in additionto any prisonterm the defendantmay

receive, and that a violation of a term of supervised release could result in the defendant being

returned to prison for the full term of supervised release.

2 . Detention Pending Sentencing

The defendant understands that this case is governed by 18 U.S.C. (a)(2) and

3145 (c) . These provisions provide that a judicial officer shall order that a person who has been

found guilty of offensesofthis kind be detainedunlessthere are statutory justificationswhy such

person'sdetentionwouldnot be appropriate.

3 . FactualBasis for the Plea

The defendant will plead guilty because the defendant is in fact guilty of the charged

offenses. The defendantadmits the facts set forth in the Statementof Facts filed with this Plea
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Agreement and agrees that those facts establishguilt of the offenses charged beyond a reasonable

doubt. The Statementof Facts, which is hereby incorporatedinto this Agreement,

constitutes a stipulation of facts for purposesof Section 1B1.2(c) ofthe Sentencing Guidelines.

4 . Assistance and Advice of Counsel

The defendantis satisfiedthat the defendant'sattorneyshave renderedeffective

assistance. The defendant understands that by entering into this Agreement, defendant

surrenders certain rights as provided in this agreement . The defendant understands that the rights

of criminal defendants include the following:

a . the rightto pleadnot guilty and to persist inthat plea;

b . the rightto a jury trial;

the right to be represented by counsel and ifnecessary, have the court
appoint counsel — at trial and at every other stage of the proceedings; and

d the right at trial to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses, to be
protected from compelled self- incrimination, to testify and present
evidence, and to compel the attendance of witnesses .

5 . SentencingGuidelines, Recommendations, and Roles

The defendant understands that the Court is bound by statute to impose a mandatory life

term of imprisonment, but that the Court will also determine the defendant's sentence in

accordancewith 18 U.S.C. 3553(a) , whichincludesthe Court'sdeterminationoftheUnited

States Sentencing Guidelinesapplicable inthis case. Inaccordancewith FederalRuleof

Criminal Procedure 11( ) ( 1) (B ), the United States and the defendant stipulate and will

recommend to the Court that the provisions of the Sentencing Guidelines set forth below apply in

this case. The defendant understands, however, that the statute governing the defendant's guilty

pleas to counts one through five of the indictment mandates a life term of imprisonment. The

defendant understands that the final determination of the Guidelines will also advise a life term
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of imprisonment. The defendant cannot withdraw his guilty plea based upon the sentence

imposed at a sentencing hearing in this matter.

The stipulated and recommended Guidelines provisions applicable in this case are as

follows:

Offense Level

32

+6

+4

Guideline Description

Base OffenseLevel: Kidnapping, Abduction,
U.S.S.G. a) UnlawfulRestraint

U.S.S.G. $ b)( 1) Ransomdemand or demand upon a government

U.S.S.G. b)(2)(A) Permanentor life-threateningbodily injury

U.S.S.G. b)(3) A dangerous weapon was used

U.S.S.G. b)(4)(A ) Victim notreleased before 30 days elapsed

U.S.S.G. 3A1.4 Terrorism

U.S.S.G. ) Aggravating Role

Total Offense Level

+2

+2

+12

+4

62

The UnitedStates and the defendantfurtheragree that the defendanthas assistedthe

government in the investigation and prosecution of the defendant's own misconduct by timely

notifying authorities of the defendant's intention to enter a plea of guilty , thereby permitting the

government to avoid preparingfor trial and permittingthe governmentand the Court to allocate

their resourcesefficiently. Ifthe defendant qualifies for a two- level decrease in offense level

pursuantto U.S.S.G. a) and the offense levelprior to the operation of that section is a

level 16 or greater, the governmentagreesto file, pursuant to U.S.S.G. b), a motionprior

to, or at the time of, sentencingfor an additionalone-level decrease in the defendant's offense

level.

The partiesagree to recommendto the Court that the sentencesimposedon counts one

througheight are served concurrently.
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The parties further agree that there exists no aggravatingor mitigatingcircumstanceof a

kind, or to a degree, not adequately taken into consideration by the Sentencing Commission in

formulating the Guidelines that should result ina sentence outside of the advisory Guidelines

range. Accordingly, the parties agree not to seek or support any sentence outside of the advisory

Guidelines range for any reason not set out explicitly in this Agreement .

6 . Waiver of Appeal , Extraordinary Sentence Reduction, FOIA, and Privacy
Act Rights

The defendantalso understandsthat 18 U.S.C. 3742 affordsa defendantthe right to

appeal the sentence imposed. Nonetheless, the defendant knowingly waives the right to appeal

the conviction and any sentence within the statutory maximum described above (or the manner in

whichthat sentencewas determined) on the grounds set forth in 18 U.S.C. or onany

ground whatsoever other than an ineffectiveassistance ofcounsel claim that is cognizable on

direct appeal, in exchange for the concessions made by the United States in this Agreement .

This agreement does not affect the rights or obligations of the United States as set forth in 18

U.S.C. 3742(b). The defendant also knowingly and voluntarily waives the right to file for an

extraordinary and compelling sentence reduction set forth in 18 U.S.C. 3582( ) (A ) ( i). The

defendant also hereby waives all rights, whether asserted directly or by a representative , to

request or receive from any department or agency of the United States any records pertaining to

the investigation or prosecution of this case, including without limitation any records that may be

sought under the FreedomofInformationAct, 5 U.S.C. 552, or the PrivacyAct, 5 U.S.C.

552a.

7 . Immunity from Further Prosecution in The United States

The United States will not further criminally prosecute the defendant in the Eastern

District ofVirginia for the specific conduct described in the Indictment or Statement of Facts,
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except that the United States may prosecutethe defendantfor any crimeof violence or

conspiracy to commit, or aiding and abetting, a crime of violence not charged in the Indictment

as an offense. Insuch a prosecution, the UnitedStates may allege and proveconductdescribed

in the Indictmentor Statement ofFacts. Crimeof violence ” hasthe meaningset forth in 18

U.S.C. .

8 . TransferBetweenthe UnitedStatesof Americaand the UnitedKingdomof
GreatBritainand NorthernIreland

Contingent upon the defendant's compliance with the terms of this Agreement , the

United States Attorney's Office for the Eastern District ofVirginia agrees to take all reasonable

measures under the law to seek the transfer of the defendant to the United Kingdom (U.K.) for

prosecution by the U.K.'s Prosecution Service after the defendant has served 15 years in

the custody of the United States Department of Justice's Bureau ofPrisons. Prior to his transfer

to the United Kingdom, the defendant agrees to plead guilty in a U.K. prosecution by which he

would accept responsibility for relevant violations ofU.K. law and would further agree there is a

realistic prospect of conviction and a prosecution is required in the public interest .

Ifan agreementbetweenthe defendantand the U.K. governmentis not reachedor

fulfilled for any reason, the defendantagrees that he isnot releasedfrom this Plea Agreementor

any sentence imposeduponhis convictionsof counts one thougheightofthe indictment. In

addition to violating other provisions of U.K. law, including provisions in the United Kingdom's

TerrorismActs of 2000 and 2006, the defendantagrees that his conduct inSyria violated the

following provisions of U.K. criminal law :

Section 63B of the Terrorism Act 2000 Murder ofDavid Haines, Alan Henning,

James Foley, Steven Sotloffand Peter Kassig;

Section One of the Taking ofHostages Act of 1982 – Hostage Taking ofJohn
Cantlie, David Haines, Alan Henning, Kayla Jean Mueller, James Foley, Steven

Sotloff, and Peter Kassig.
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For these enumerated offenses, the defendant agrees that the maximum term of

imprisonment in the United Kingdom is natural life without parole and that this would be a fair

and proper punishment which shall be served consecutively to the punishment imposed in the

United States. The defendant further agrees that should the sentence imposed upon him in the

U.K. be shorter than a life sentence or ifthe actual sentence served in the U.K. is less than life

for any reason, he would agree, upon completion of the U.K. sentence , to serve the remainder of

his U.S.- imposed life sentence in the UnitedKingdom, if legally available, or agrees to a

transfer to the United States to serve the remainderof his sentence. The defendantknowingly

and voluntarily waives any right to appeal the sentence or to seek his release in the United

Kingdomat any time or for any reason.

The United States Attorney'sOffice for the EasternDistrictofVirginiaagrees to take all

reasonable steps under the law to seek the transfer of the defendant to the United Kingdom

to the terms of this Agreement, with the understandingthat the transfer would be

subject to the sole discretion of the United Kingdom .

The defendant will agree to a transfer pursuant to the U.K. Extradition Treaty of 2003, or

pursuant to the Mutual Legal Assistance Treaty ( “MLAT ) between the United States of

America and the United Kingdom ofGreat Britain and Northern Ireland, or by any other lawful

means. Without prejudice to transfer under any other treaty provisions , or other lawful means,

the defendant further agrees his transfer to the U.K.would be proper under Article 11 of the

MLAT. Article 11 of the MLAT states:

7
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Transfer ofPersons in Custody

1. A person in the custody of one Party whose presence in the territory of the other Party
is sought for thepurposeofprovidingassistance under this Treaty shall be transferred for that
purpose ifthe person and both Parties consent.

Given that the defendant agrees to cooperate with the United States and British

governments by truthfully disclosingall information known by him pursuant to the terms set

forth in paragraphs9 through 11 ofthis Agreement, the defendant submits that his transfer

under the terms of Article 11 would be proper, and the United States Attorney's Office for the

Eastern District ofVirginia agrees to take all reasonable measures to seek a transfer under any

lawfulmeanspursuantto the terms of this Agreement.

The defendant agrees that ifhe fails to provide full, complete, and truthful cooperation as

requiredby paragraphs9 and 11 of this Agreement, the United States will be releasedfrom

its obligations under this Agreement, including the obligations described in this paragraph.

9 . Defendant's Cooperation

The defendant agrees to cooperate fully and truthfully with the United States, and provide

all informationknown to the defendant regarding any criminal activity as requested by the

government. In that regard:

a . The defendant agrees to be reasonably available for debriefing,
conferences and meetings as the United States may require.

b Thedefendantagrees to cooperatewith all foreigngovernmentsseeking
information from the defendant.

The defendant agrees to supervised direct meetings with all victim family
members and released hostages, ifthose victims request any such
meetings.

d . The defendant agrees to provide all documents, records , writings, or

materials ofany kind in the defendant's possession or under the

defendant's care, custody , or control relating directly or indirectly to all
areas of inquiry and investigation.
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e . The defendant agrees that, at the request of the United States , the
defendant will voluntarily submit to polygraph examinations, and that the
United States will choose the polygraph examiner and specify the

procedures for the examinations .

f . The defendant agrees that the Statement ofFacts is limited to information
to support the plea. The defendant will provide more detailed facts

relatingto this case during ensuing debriefings.

The defendant is hereby on notice that the defendant may not violate any

federal, state , or local criminal law while cooperating with the
government

10. Use of InformationProvidedby the DefendantUnderThis Agreement

The United States will not use any truthful informationprovided pursuant to this

agreement in any criminalprosecutionagainst the defendant in the United States. Pursuant to

U.S.S.G. no truthful informationthat the defendantprovidesunderthis agreementwill

be used in determining the applicable guideline range, except as providedin Section 1B1.8(b) .

Nothing in this agreement, however, restricts the Court's or Probation Officer's access to

informationand recordsin the possessionofthe UnitedStates. Furthermore, nothingin this

agreement prevents the government inany way from prosecutingthe defendant should the

defendant knowingly provide false, untruthful, or perjurious information or testimony, or from

using information provided by the defendant in furtherance of any forfeiture action, whether

criminal or civil, administrativeor judicial. The United States will bringthis agreementand the

full extent ofthe defendant'scooperationto the attentionof otherprosecutingoffices if

requested

11. DefendantMustProvideFull, Complete, and TruthfulCooperation

This agreementis not conditionedupon chargesbeing broughtagainst any other

individual. This agreement is not conditioned upon any outcome in any pending investigation.

Thisagreementis not conditioneduponany result in any future prosecutionthat may occur

9
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because of the defendant's cooperation . This agreement is not conditioned upon any result in

any future grand jury presentation or trial involving charges resulting from this investigation.

This agreementis conditioneduponthe defendantprovidingfull, complete, and truthful

cooperation, as set forth in paragraph9 ofthis Agreement.

12 Payment ofMonetary Penalties

The defendantunderstandsand agrees that, pursuantto 18 U.S.C. 3613 and 18 U.S.C.

3572 , all monetary penalties imposed by the Court, including restitution, will be due

immediately and subject to immediate enforcement by the United States as provided for in

Section 3613. If the Court imposes a schedule of payments, the defendant understands that the

scheduleofpaymentsis merely a minimumscheduleofpaymentsand not the only method, nora

limitationon the methods, availableto the United States to enforce the judgment. Untilall

monetary penalties are paid in full, the defendant will be referred to the Treasury Offset Program

so that any federal payment or transfer of returned property to the defendant will be offset and

applied to pay the defendant's unpaid monetary penalties. The defendant agrees to participate

voluntarily in the Bureau ofPrisons Inmate Financial Responsibility Program, regardless of

whetherthe Court specificallydirects participationor imposesa scheduleofpayments.

Defendant agrees to make good -faith efforts toward payment ofall monetary penalties imposed

by the Court

13. SpecialAssessment

Before sentencing in this case, the defendant agrees to pay a mandatory special

assessment of $ 100 per felony count ofconviction, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 3013(a)( )(A ) .

10
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14. Restitution

The defendant agrees that restitution is mandatory pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 3663A( ) ( ),

and the defendant agrees to the entry of a Restitution Order for the full amount of the victims '

losses as determinedby the Court. Pursuantto 18 U.S.C. 3663A( )(2 ) , the defendantfurther

agrees that an offense listed in Section 3663A( ) ( 1) gave rise to this Agreement and, as

such, victims of the conduct described in the charging instrument, Statement of Facts, or any

related or similar conduct shall be entitled to restitution. Without limiting the amount of

restitution that the Court must impose , the parties agree that , at a minimum , the families of the

four American victims identified in the Indictment have suffered losses and are entitled to

restitution

The defendantunderstandsthat forfeitureandrestitutionare separateand distinct

financial obligations that must be imposed upon a criminal defendant . The defendant further

understandsthat restitutionwill be enforcedpursuantto 18 U.S.C. 3572, 18 U.S.C. 3613, 18

U.S.C. 3664(m ) , and 18 U.S.C. 3681.

The parties acknowledgethat determinationofthe identities, addresses, and loss amounts

for all victims in this matter is a complicated and time -consuming process . To that end,

defendantagrees that, pursuantto 18 U.S.C. 3664(d) (5 ) , the Court may defer the impositionof

restitution until after the sentencing; however, defendant specifically waives the 90 - day

provisionfound at Section3664(d) (5 ) and consentsto the entry of any orders pertainingto

restitutionafter sentencingwithout limitation.

15. Forfeiture Agreement

The defendantunderstandsthat the forfeitureofassets is part of the sentence that must be

imposedin this case. The defendant agreesto waive all interest in the asset inany administrative

11
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or judicial forfeitureproceeding, whether criminal or civil, state or federal. The assets in this

case are the electronic/digital devices seized in the United Kingdom as evidence in this case.

The defendant agrees to consent to the entry of orders of forfeiture for such property and waives

the requirements ofFederal Rules ofCriminalProcedure 32.2 and 43( a ) regardingnotice of the

forfeiture in the Indictment , announcement of the forfeiture at sentencing , and incorporation of

the forfeiture in the judgment. Defendant admits and agrees that the conduct described in the

Indictmentand Statement ofFacts provides a sufficient factual and statutory basis for the

forfeiture of the property sought by the government.

16. Waiver of Further Review of Forfeiture

The defendant further agrees to waive all constitutional and statutory challenges to

forfeiture in any manner (including direct appeal, habeas corpus, or any other means) to any

forfeiture carried out in accordance with this Plea Agreement on any grounds, including that the

forfeiture constitutes an excessive fine or punishment. The defendant also waives any failure by

the Court to advise the defendant of applicable forfeiture at the time the guilty plea is

accepted as required by Rule 11(b)( 1) The defendant agrees to take all steps as requested by

the United States to pass clear title to forfeitable assets to the United States, and to testify

truthfully in any judicial forfeiture proceeding. The defendant understands and agrees that all

property covered by this agreement is subject to forfeiture, includingall electronic media devices

seized as evidence in this case .

17 . ConsentGivenfor Removalfrom the UnitedStates

The defendant acknowledges that the defendant is removable from the United States and

agrees not to contest any removal proceedings brought against the defendant by the U.S.

Department of Homeland Security (DHS) . Ifthe DHS files a Notice to Appear or other

12
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administrative charging document against the defendant, the defendant agrees to request an

expedited removal hearing and to consent to removal. The defendant acknowledges that by

consentingto removal, the defendantwill be immediatelyremovedfromthe UnitedStates upon

the completion of any period of incarceration. The defendant knowingly waives any and all

rights to appeal, reopen , reconsider, or otherwise challenge this removal.

18. Waiver of Rights Related to Removalfrom the United States

The defendantagrees to waive the defendant'srights to apply for any andall forms of

reliefor protection from removal, deportation, or exclusion under the Immigrationand

NationalityAct (as amended) and relatedfederalregulations. These rights include, but are not

limited to , the ability to apply for the following forms of relief or protection from removal :

(a) voluntary departure; (b) asylum ; (c ) withholding of deportation or removal ; (d) cancellation

of removal; (e ) suspensionofdeportation; ( f) adjustmentof status; and (g) protectionunder

Article 3 of the ConventionAgainst Torture. As partof this Agreement, the defendant

specificallyacknowledgesand states that the defendanthas not been persecutedin, and has no

present fear ofpersecution in, the United Kingdom on account of race, religion, nationality,

membership in a particular social group orpolitical opinion. Similarly , the defendant further

acknowledges and states that he has not been tortured in the United Kingdom, nor does he have a

present fear of torture in the United Kingdom.

19. Breachof the PleaAgreementand Remedies

This Plea Agreementis effectivewhen signedby the defendant, the defendant'sattorney,

and an attorney for the United States. The defendant agrees to entry of this Agreement at

the date and time scheduledwith the Court by the United States ( in consultationwith the

defendant'sattorney). Ifthe defendantwithdrawsfrom this agreement, or commitsor attempts
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to commit any additional federal, state, or local crimes, or intentionally gives materially false,

incomplete, or misleadingtestimony information, or otherwise violates any provisionof this

agreement, then:

a . The United States will be released from its obligations under this
agreement. The defendant, however, may not withdraw the guilty plea
entered pursuant to this agreement.

b The defendant will be subject to prosecution for any federal criminal

violation, including, but not limited to, perjury and obstruction of justice,

that is not time- barred by the applicable statute of limitations on the date

this agreement is signed. Notwithstanding the subsequent expiration of

the statute of limitations , in any such prosecution, the defendant agrees to
waive any statute -of-limitations defense.

Any prosecution, including the prosecution that is the subject of this

agreement , may be premised upon any information provided, or

statements made, by the defendant, and all such information, statements ,

and leads derived therefrom may be used against the defendant. The
defendant waives any right to claim that statements made before or after

the date of this agreement , including the Statement of Facts accompanying

this agreement or adopted by the defendant and any other statements made

pursuant to this or any other agreement with the United States, should be

excluded or suppressed under Fed. R. Evid. 410 , Fed. R. Crim. P. 11( ),

the Sentencing Guidelines, or any other provision of the Constitution or
federal law

Any alleged breach of this agreement by either party shall be determined by the Court in

an appropriate proceeding at which the defendant's disclosures and documentary evidence shall

be admissible and at which the moving party shall be required to establish a breach of this

Agreement by a preponderance of the evidence.

20. Nature of the Agreement and Modifications

This writtenagreementconstitutesthe completepleaagreementbetweenthe United

States, the defendant, andthe defendant'scounsel The defendantand the defendant'sattorney

acknowledgethat no threats, promises, or representationshave beenmade, noragreements

reached , other than those set forth in writing in this Agreement or any associated documents
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filed with the Court, to cause the defendant to plead guilty. Any modification of this

agreement shall be valid only as set forth inwriting ina supplemental or revised plea agreement

signed by all parties

RAJPAREKH

ActingUnitedStatesAttorney

By:

DennisM.Fitzpatrick
John T. Gibbs
Aidan Taft Grano-Mickelsen

Assistant UnitedStates Attorneys
EasternDistrict of Virginia
Alicia H. Cook, Trial Attorney
UnitedStates Departmentof Justice

Defendant’s Signature: I hereby agree that I have consulted with my attorneys and fully
understand all with respect to the pending criminal Indictment Further, I fully understand
all rights with respect to 18 U.S.C. and the provisions of the Sentencing Guidelines
Manual that may apply in my case. I have read this Plea Agreement and carefully reviewed
every part of it with myattorney. I understandthis agreementand voluntarily agree to it.

9-2-21Date:

AlexandaAmonKotey

Defense Counsel's Signatures: We are counsel for the defendant in this case . We have

fully explained to the defendant the defendant's rights with respect to the pending Indictment.
Further, we have reviewed 18 U.S.C. 3553 and the Sentencing Guidelines Manual, and we

have fully explained to the defendant the provisions that may apply in this case . We have

carefully reviewed every part of this Agreement with the defendant. To our knowledge, the
defendant's decision to enter into this agreement is an informed and voluntary one .

Cadence

BrookeSealy Rupert
SabrinaParvinShroff
Officeofthe FederalPublic Defender

Counselfor AlexandaAmonKotey

Barry Coburn
Marc Jason Eisenstein

Coburn & Greenbaum, PLLC

Counsel for Alexanda Amon Kotey

Date:

Date:
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